
 MINUTES OF MEETING OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
TANGLEWOOD FOREST LIMITED DISTRICT 

March 15, 2023 

THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
 § 
COUNTY OF TRAVIS § 

The Board of Directors of Tanglewood Forest Limited District met in regular session, open to the 
public, on March 15, 2023, at the Tanglewood Pool House, located at 9809 Curlew Drive, Austin, 
Texas, pursuant to notice duly given in accordance with law. A copy of the Certificate of Posting 
of the Notice is attached hereto as Exhibit “A”. 

The following Board Members were present, thus constituting a quorum: 

Ron Peterson President Present 
Nikki Krueger Vice President Present 
Brian Whelan Treasurer / Secretary Present 

Robbie Castille Director Present 
  Vacant 

Also present for the meeting were: John Carlton of The Carlton Law Firm, P.L.L.C.; Brody 
McKinley of SafeGuard Aquatics; Charlie Mowen of TexaScapes; Enid Simon of Pioneer Real 
Estate Services; and residents of the District. 

Director Peterson convened the meeting at 6:00 p.m. and took the agenda items in the order 
described below. 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

Item 1 – Receive communications from the public on items not listed on the posted agenda. 
Carolyn Pilgreen, a District resident, read comments from Noel Gonsalvez regarding recognition 
for Mr. Mowen and the TexaScapes staff’s storm debris cleanup. Steve Gerlofs, a District resident, 
asked the Board if volunteer work for the District is covered by the District insurance policy. Mr. 
Gerlofs also said that on April 12, 2018 the Board decided to rent the pool room out with an 
occupant maximum of 20 people and to establish alternate locations for emergency District 
meetings if the Pool house is not available. Mr. Gerlofs noted he would like the Board to look into 
finding other locations for the District to hold emergency meetings if the need arises. Tim 
Cunningham, a District resident, addressed the Board and said that the January 18th meeting 
minutes should have the word “censor’ changed to “censure” as the Board’s intention is not to 
silence anyone. Mr. Cunningham said the last page of the agenda regarding the Americans with 
Disabilities Act invites the Board to comply with the ADA, specifically with access to all park 
amenities and suggests an audit or check of the parks for compliance. Mr. Cunningham also 
mentioned that there are four committees: pools, finance, parks, and communications, and that 
forty percent of the Board is prohibited from engaging with committees as they are not on the 
committees.    



Item 2 – Public Comment on Agenda Items. Addressed in items below.  

OTHER MATTERS 

Item 12 – Discuss and consider Board member duties, responsibilities, and actions. Mr. 
Cunningham said he is not sure how effective the motions to censure are. Mr. Cunningham said 
forty percent of the Board is not participating in the committees and wants all available talent and 
energy to be used for the improvement of the District and for the Board to learn to work together. 

Director Krueger said there were several questions at the February 2023 Board meeting regarding 
Ms. Minjarez’s Director bond with Victor Insurance. Director Krueger asked Mr. Carlton if Ms. 
Minjarez’s Director bond had been issued. Mr. Carlton said Ms. Minjarez had submitted her bond 
application directly to Victor Insurance and the underwriter refused to issue the bond. Mr. Carlton 
said Ms. Minjarez’s bond application was rejected due to the felony conviction on her record. Mr. 
Carlton said the Texas statute says a Director must be elected, fill out the statement and oath and 
have a director’s bond issued, and that a person is not qualified to assume the duties of a Director 
until the bond is issued. Director Castille said Ms. Minjarez obtained a separate bond. Director 
Krueger asked if the time has passed for Ms. Minjarez to obtain her bond. Mr. Carlton said there 
is no timeframe for the bond issuance, but there are provisions for vacancies and that Ms. Minjarez 
has not technically been a Board member yet as she has not obtained her bond. Mr. Carlton also 
said since Ms. Minjarez is not yet a Board member there is a vacancy under the statute. Director 
Krueger moved to appoint a Director in place of Ms. Minjarez. Director Peterson seconded the 
motion, and the motion passed 3-1 with Director Castille opposed. Director Castille said the 
motion was absurd and put documents on the table. Director Krueger asked the Carlton Law Firm 
to correct the meeting minutes from  November 22, 2022 to the present and remove any vote or 
comment from Ms. Minjarez. Mr. Carlton said the minutes could be revised but must be approved 
with the revisions. Director Castille said there was a question of fact that would need to be resolved 
before the vacancy could be made official. Director Castille said Ms. Minjarez has a bond and 
Director Krueger responded that the bond had not been approved by the Board. Mr. Carlton said 
that he works for the majority of the Board as it takes action and can appreciate Director Castille’s 
position. Mr. Carlton mentioned he has noted in the meeting minutes that Director Castille said 
there was a bond and provided a document on the table for that and Mr. Carlton must take action 
on what the majority of the Board votes and approves. Director Krueger moved to direct the 
Carlton Law Firm to review and revise minutes since November 2022 for the April Board meeting 
and asked the Law Firm to prepare a memorandum to Bruce Elfant reporting the disqualified 
Director due to the felony and to include Ms. Minjarez’s application for place on the ballot. 
Director Whelan seconded the motion, and the motion passed 3-1 with Director Castille opposed. 
Director Krueger asked Mr. Carlton to provide an application form for the position of District 
Director directly to Director Krueger. Director Krueger explained the application process to those 
in attendance. Director Krueger suggested holding a special meeting on April 3, 2023, to discuss 
the appointment for the vacant Director seat. Director Krueger stated an applicant for the Director 
position cannot have a felony conviction. Director Krueger moved to hold a special meeting on 
April 3, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. where the Board will review applications to appoint a Director to the 
Board. Director Castille stated no one can be appointed who has run and lost in any election for 
the District in the last two years. Director Peterson seconded the motion, and the motion passed 4-
0.  



CONSENT ITEMS 

Item 3 – Consider approval of the February 15, 2023 meeting minutes. Director Castille stated 
the meeting minutes are out of control and make the District look unprofessional. Director Castille 
said he does not want to approve the meeting minutes tonight since Mr. Gonsalvez said slanderous 
things and Director Castille wants to give Mr. Gonsalvez an opportunity to retract the statements 
made before Director Castille has to do anything else. Director Castille said he would like to table 
the meeting minutes tonight so he can ask Mr. Gonsalvez to retract his comments. Director Krueger 
said Mr. Gonsalvez’s comments are public comment and recorded in the way that they were said. 
Director Castille told Director Krueger if she likes Mr. Gonsalvez she will wait to approve the 
February meeting minutes. Director Krueger stated Director Castille is threatening a District 
resident and Director Castille said he is trying to incentivize Mr. Gonsalvez to find a more 
constructive way to oppose him. 
Director Krueger said the amount on page one should be corrected to $88,000. Director Krueger 
moved to approve the February minutes with the correction. Director Whelan seconded the motion, 
and the motion passed 3-1 with Director Castille opposed to give Mr. Gonsalvez a chance to protect 
himself.  

REPORTS AND COMMITTEE MATTERS 

Item 4 – Receive report from the Finance Committee and Treasurer and consider taking 
related action regarding the following:  

(a) monthly financial report, payment of monthly bills and invoices and transfers 
of District funds:  Director Whelan presented the financial report as provided, 
including the updated check register. Director Whelan discussed the late invoice 
received from Armbrust and Brown for $2,080 for attendance at Director Castille’s 
deposition. Director Whelan requested a transfer of $67,000 from savings to 
checking to pay for the updated check register and Armbrust and Brown invoice. 
Director Krueger also discussed a $1,419.70 invoice from Pioneer that will not be 
paid. Director Krueger said the Pioneer invoice will be subtracted from the check 
register until a detailed invoice for the $1,419.70 is received. Director Krueger also 
mentioned the need to add a payment for the summer movie event and asked for 
preapproval of $475.00 for the movie rights. Director Krueger moved to allow 
Pioneer to make the summer movie payment of $475.00, payment of $1,262.61 for 
the movie screen, to pay the bills and invoices as discussed, and to transfer $67,000 
from savings to checking account. Director Castille asked why the invoices were 
late and said he was uncomfortable approving the invoices without sufficient time 
to review them. Director Castille seconded the motion, and the motion passed 3-1 
with Director Castille opposed due to insufficient time to review the invoices since 
some invoices came in late. Director Whelan described the litigation invoice 
involving Director Castille. Mr. Carlton explained that the invoice is related to 
litigation that the District is adverse to Director Castille on, and an Attorney 
General opinion has been requested on whether the Armbrust and Brown invoices 
should be provided to Director Castille. Director Krueger mentioned that on the 
Profit and Loss report the pool repairs were placed in the pool projects line item 
and suggested moving $10,006.23 to the general maintenance line item.  



(b) discuss and consider possible action regarding the FY2020 and FY2021 audit 
report. The matter was not addressed. 

(c) discuss and consider possible action regarding proposal for FY2022 audit. The 
matter was not addressed. 

(d) amendments to the budget for FY2023: The matter was not addressed.  
(e) security issues including report from Travis County Sheriff’s Office and 

renewal of contract with Travis County Sheriff’s Office for 2023: The matter 
was not addressed.  

Item 5 – Receive report from the District’s pool operations contractor and Pool Committee 
and consider taking related action, including matters related to: pool operator and pool 
maintenance/lifeguard contract; leak repairs; pool maintenance, general repairs and 
upkeep; operating schedule; pool programs; pool funding; lifeguards; and rates and fees for 
pool use. Brody McKinley with SafeGuard Aquatics presented the pool report. Mr. McKinley said 
the pool was cleaned and routine maintenance was completed for the month. Mr. McKinley told 
the Board that lifeguard classes will start in April, that the pool opens April 22nd,  and asked if the 
District wants to keep the same pool prices. Director Castille said he would like to match the City 
of Austin prices. Director Peterson asked Mr. McKinley about the City of Austin prices. Mr. 
McKinley said last year the District was close to the same prices charged by the City of Austin but 
he does not know the City’s prices off hand. Director Krueger thinks the prices should stay the 
same. Director Peterson asked Mr. McKinley to provide the pricing information to him after the 
meeting. Director Krueger moved to keep the pool fees the same as the 2022 fees. Director Castille 
seconded the motion, and the motion passed 4-0. 
Director Peterson also discussed swim lessons for 2023 and would like to charge a registration fee 
of $115 for District residents and $135 for people out of the District per session. Director Krueger 
asked how many individuals can be in a session. Mr. McKinley said there is a max of six people 
in a session with four courses in each session. Director Peterson said the first session runs from 
June 6th through June 16th. Director Krueger asked for time for the Board to review the pool 
information before the April meeting. Director Whelan asked about the lifeguard pay rates. Mr. 
McKinley said the 2022 pay rate started at $15/hr and the City of Austin pay rates will be 
increasing to $20/hr. Director Castille asked if the Board would be willing to increase the rates if 
the City of Austin raises their rates. Director Krueger mentioned there could still be an issue with 
raising the prices. Director Peterson said the pool information would be discussed again at the 
April Board meeting. 
Item 6 – Receive report from the District’s landscape maintenance contractor and Park 
Committee and consider taking related action: Mr. Mowen discussed the February report with 
the Board. Mr. Mowen said about 95% of the tree breakage has been removed by the City of 
Austin. Mr. Mowen asked if anyone on the Board had heard anything about the City making 
another pass to pick up limbs. Director Krueger mentioned the City would return five more times. 
Mr. Mowen said TexaScapes is going to continue to haul off limbs and TexaScapes intends to 
continue to address the additional broken limbs going forward. Mr. Mowen mentioned the 
ladybugs should be received this week and ant bait will come in within the next couple of months. 
Mr. Mowen explained the annual ladybug release and the use of the ladybugs to avoid pesticides. 



(a) Landscape maintenance contract, proposals and estimates for additional 
landscaping work, maintenance, repair, replacement and improvements to 
landscaping and landscape related facilities, irrigation systems, and tree 
trimming: Mr. Mowen said there are still hanging limbs and TexaScapes will not 
remove material over 8 feet high and submitted a proposal to clean out the District’s 
ditches. Director Krueger said the cost estimate for the proposal would be about 
$15,000-$20,000. Director Krueger moved to preapprove $20,000 for TexaScapes 
to clean out the ditches. Director Whelan seconded the motion, and the motion 
passed 3-0-1 with Director Castille abstaining. 
Director Krueger said only two out of eight vendors have responded with bids for 
removal of the branches 8 feet and above with an estimated cost of about $55,000 
based on two bids. Director Krueger mentioned half of the $55,000 estimated cost 
being for Greenbriar. Director Krueger suggested approving all work except for 
Greenbriar Park and Woodland Park for a cost of $50,000 per park from Affordable 
Arbor Care. Director Whelan inquired about the other bids and Director Krueger 
said the quotes were between $8,000-$5,400 per park per day. Director Castille said 
he is okay with all the pricing in the quote except for the work at Greenbriar. 
Director Castille asked about the bidding and Mr. Carlton explained the need to 
determine if three proposals or more of $25,000 are required for this type of work. 
Mr. Carlton advised the Board that the $50,000 bid should be fine, and he will check 
on the three proposals for the $25,000 work. Mr. Mowen stated work within 50 feet 
of power lines requires a certified arborist. Director Krueger moved to preapprove 
$50,000 for tree cleanup for any vendor. Director Whelan seconded the motion, and 
the motion passed 4-0.   

(b) consider amendments to the Park Rules: The matter was not addressed. 
Item 7 – Receive report from District’s General Manager and consider taking related action, 
including matters related to:  

(a) management services, and related issues:  The matter was not addressed. 
(b) use, maintenance, repair, replacement and improvement of District property 

and facilities including, but not limited to, buildings, restrooms, electrical 
systems, lighting, and parking areas: Ms. Simon presented the report as provided 
in the packet and said all work orders have been completed except for two regarding 
the removal of shopping carts in Woodland and Idylwild Parks. Ms. Simon said a 
couch was put on Aftonshire that will also be removed. Ms. Simon said the new 
communication boards are up at Tanglewood Park and Greenbriar Park. Director 
Krueger said the movie will be The Princess Bride and will be on June 3rd at 8:30 
p.m. Ms. Simon said the Kocurek carnival flyer  has been posted on the message 
boards.  

(c) Large event requests: The matter was not addressed. 
(d)  park and restroom cleaning and related services from cleaning contractor:  

The matter was not addressed. 
(e) pond cleaning and related services from Aquatic Features: The matter was not 

addressed. 



(f)  report from General Manager and Deed Restriction Committee regarding 
enforcement of deed restrictions with the District: Mr. Cunningham asked about 
the general manager deed drive report. Mr. Cunningham asked about the number 
of complaints or violations in the report. Director Castille said there were 14 
properties on the deed drive and gave Mr. Cunningham a copy of the report. Mr. 
Cunningham said he would like to see the report modified to be posted on the 
website and would like more transparency regarding the restrictive covenant 
activity. Mr. Carlton said he will work with Ms. Simon to prepare a summary 
report. Mr. Cunningham said he would like to see a report that gives the community 
an idea of the scope of work that the Board faces. 

Item 8 – Receive report from the Communications Committee and consider action regarding 
the following:  Director Krueger discussed having a District map in the Pool house and the website 
banner is up at the tennis courts. Director Krueger thanked all the communications committee 
volunteers for assisting with putting Board meeting signs out each month. 

(a) website content:  Director Castille asked about the number of visitors to the 
District website and if the website has a tracker to keep track of website views.  

(b) newsletter: Director Krueger discussed the April newsletter with the approved 
movie for the movie night and the pool fees. Director Krueger said that Mr. 
Gonsalvez created a list of accurate addresses, and the newsletters will be addressed 
to the Tanglewood Forest neighbors. 

Item 9 – Receive General Counsel report and consider taking related action regarding the 
following:   

(a) pending contract issues, open records requests, and election matters:  The 
matter was not addressed. 

(b) District’s process for legal action and legal action on deed restriction 
enforcement (including Tanglewood Forest Limited District v. Ninfa Yanez, 
Cause No. D-1-GN-19-007074 in the District Court of Travis County, Texas):  
Mr. Carlton said he has information to discuss with the Board in closed session. 

(c) other litigation matters:  The matter was not addressed. 
(d)  legal investigations and other legal issues, if any: The matter was not addressed. 
(e) the Attorney Generals response to The Carlton Law Firm’s request for 

exception to R. Castille’s February 4, 2022, Open Records Request and Cause 
No. D-1-GN-22-002141: The matter was not addressed. 

Item 10 – Receive report from Special Counsel regarding One Barton Place v. Horizon HOA 
Management, Lauren DeWilde et al., Cause No. D-1-GN-20-001451 in the District Court of 
Travis County, Texas. Mr. Carlton said he has information to discuss with the Board in closed 
session. 
Item 11 – Discuss, consider, and take any action necessary regarding the State of Texas v. 
DeWilde, Lauren (Cause No. D-1-DC-22-900009) in the 299th District Court of Travis 
County, Texas. The matter was not addressed.  



Item 13 – Review Resolution Regarding Public Participation at Open Meetings and make 
changes as appropriate. Director Krueger reviewed the public participation information and 
suggested removing section 3 regarding virtual meeting signup. Mr. Carlton said he will revise the 
policy to address the virtual meeting signups in case there is another virtual meeting and add the 
item to be considered again in the April meeting.  

Item 14 – Review Records Management Program and make changes as appropriate. Mr. 
Carlton explained the annual review and the Board only needs to approve if they have no changes. 
The Board had no changes to the Records Management Program. 

Item 15 – Discuss and consider revisions to the District’s Code of Ethics. The matter was not 
addressed. 
Item 16 – Discuss and consider time, date, and agenda items for the next Board meeting. The 
next regular meeting will be held on April 19, 2023, at 6:00 p.m.  
The Board entered executive session at 7:00 p.m. to discuss Item 9 for advice from Mr. Carlton 
regarding the Yanez litigation and for advice regarding Item 10. The Board reconvened in open 
session at 7:09p.m. No action was taken. 

Meeting adjourned at 7:09 p.m. 

(Seal)   
 Brian Whelan, Secretary 
 Board of Directors 

Date: April 19, 2023 


